IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGTI\1IA 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 
Appellee 

v. 

ELIZABETH DAWN THORNTON, 
Appellant 

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

INTRODUCTION 

Supreme Court No: 35533 

Circuit Court No. 08-F-538 
(Kanawha County) 

The Appellant, Elizabeth Thornton, suffered one of the greatest horrors that a mother can 

face: the loss of a child, followed by what appears to be the mother's wrongful conviction under 

the mistaken belief that the cause of death was the mother's delay in seeking medical treatment. 

In May 2008, the Appellant's 22-month-old child collapsed as she was trying to feed him. 

She immediately began administering CPR and cried to her friend to call 911. Paramedics 

arrived promptly and rushed the child to the hospital where he was diagnosed with a closed head 

injury. Despite all medical efforts, the child deteriorated during the night and was declared brain 

dead less than 48 hours later. 

Neither the police nor the prosecutors believed that the Appellant inflicted the injuries to 

her child. Instead, the Appellant was charged with child neglect causing death based on the 



belief that the Appellant should have seen symptoms of injury and sought medical treatment 

sooner. 

The Appellant appeals her conviction on the grounds that: 

I. The prosecution's medical experts testified only to the possibility that a delay in 
seeking medical treatment may have caused the death of the child. Consequently, the evidence 
that the Appellant caused the death of the child fell far short of proof beyond a reasonable doubt 
and the Appellant's motion for a judgment of acquittal should have been granted. 

2. The trial court erroneously denied the Appellant's motions for mistrials based on the 
prosecution's violations of the court's ruling in limine by infonning the jury that the Appellant 
was the subject of child protective services proceedings. 

PROCEEDINGS AND RULING BELOW 

The Appellant was arrested on May 29,2008, and charged with child neglect resulting in 

death, in violation of W.Va. Code § 6l-8D-4a. Criminal complaint No. 08-F-1934, Magistrate 

Court of Kanawha County. The Appellant was subsequently indicted in the September 2008 

tenn of court. Circuit Court of Kanawha County, Indictment No. 08-F-538. 

The Appellant's trial began on January 7,2009. On January 14,2009, after 10 112 hours 

of deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of guilty. 

The Appellant filed a Motion for a New Trial on January 26,2009. On May 12,2009, 

the Appellant's Motion for a New Trial was denied, and she was sentenced to an indetenninate 

tenn of not less than three nor more than fifteen years, with credit for time served of 333 days. 

On August 17,2009, in order to renew the appeal period, the Appellant was resentenced 

to the same term of imprisonment, with credit for time served of 413 days. 
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The Appellant filed a Notice oflntent to Appeal on September 8,2009. On December 

17, 2009, the Appellant filed her Petition for Appeal, raising five assignments of error. J 

The Court heard oral presentation of the Petition on March 31, 2010. By Order of March 

31,20 I 0, the Court granted the Petition for Appeal as to assignments of errors Number 2 and 4 

only. 

On May 17, 20 I 0, the Court notified counsel of the filing of the reproduced record, 

commencing the thirty-day period for the filing of this Brief of Appellant. 

J The five original assignments of error were as follows: 

1. The Circuit Court Failed to Perform the Court's Mandatory "Gatekeeper" Function 
Regarding the Admissibility of Scientific Evidence By Denying a Daubert Hearing and 
Allowing the Medical Examiner to Express Far-Ranging Opinions Regarding the 
Contested Issues in the Case Without Any Inquiry, Out ofthe Presence ofthe Jury, into 
the Reliability ofthe Medical Examiner's Opinions. The Circuit Court, in Effect, 
Erroneously Ruled that Medical Examiners in West Virginia are Exempt from Reliability 
Assessments. 

II. The Prosecution's Medical Experts Testified Only to the Possibility that a Delay in 
Seeking Medical Treatment May Have Caused the Death of the Child. Consequently, 
the Evidence That the Petitioner Caused the Death ofthe Child Fell Far Short of Proof 
Beyond a Reasonable Doubt and the Petitioner's Motion for a Judgment of Acquittal 
Should Have Been Granted. 

III. Because ofthe Intense Hostility Toward the Petitioner, Hostility that was Deliberately 
Generated by Law Enforcement Officials, the Circuit Court's Denial ofthe Petitioner's 
Motion for a Change of Venue was Erroneous and Should Be Reversed. 

IV. The Trial Court Erroneously Denied the Petitioner's Motions for Mistrials Based on 
the Prosecution's Violations ofthe Court's Ruling in Limine By Informing the Jury 
that the Petitioner Was the Subject of Child Protective Services Proceedings. 

V. The Prosecution Impermissibly Violated the Petitioner's Presumption ofInnocence By 
Informing the Jury of the Petitioner's Status as a Prisoner at the Regional Jail. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On May 29, 2008, the Appellant's 22-month-old child, Constantine Alexander Washburn, 

collapsed in the Appellant's presence and was rushed to the hospital. Tr. 229-31,296-98,658-

66. Upon admission to the emergency room, the child was found to have a large bruise on his 

forehead, and additional minor bruising in numerous locations on his body. Tr. 338, 343, 458-

60. The CT scan indicated that the child had received what appeared to be a severe head injury. 

Tr. 342, 362. 

There was no evidence that the Appellant caused any of the child's injuries. Instead, the 

prosecution theorized that the Appellant did not cause the injuries, but that she must have 

realized that someone injured the child, and that the child needed medical attention at a time 

sooner than she obtained it. Tr. 203, 785-86. 

The Appellant was interviewed extensively, by hospital officials and by the police, both 

during the time of the child's hospitalization, Tr. 127-32, 148-49, 172, 372-76, 410-11,428, 669-

70,685, and again after the child's death, Tr. 135-38, 147-49, 172, 719-23. The Appellant also 

testified at trial. In each interview and interrogation, the Appellant consistently explained the 

history of her child's injuries, to the extent that she was able to do so. The Appellant explained 

that each of her four children had a virus that was currently circulating among children in the 

neighborhood. Tr. 117, 131,311,375,513,636-39. She also explained that on Monday, May 

26, three days before her son collapsed and was rushed to the hospital, her son had two falls. 

The Appellant testified that the first fall occurred when the child was playing and 

spinning in circles on the living room floor and fell and struck his forehead on the comer of a 
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coffee table. Tr. 118, 130,252,375,428,640-41. The second fall occurred when the Appellant 

was giving the child a bath later that evening, and he fell and struck his chin on the toilet. Tr. 

642. The Appellant explained that after each of the falls, the child cried, but soon returned to 

playing normally. Tr. 641-42. 

During the day on Monday, May 26, before the child struck his head on the coffee table, 

the child had experienced diarrhea and vomiting, consistent with the virus that her other children 

had experienced. Tr. 131,311,375,640. In the evening, sometime after he struck his head, he 

vomited again, Tr. 642, but the illness seemed consistent with the previous viral symptoms. Tr. 

131,375. 

By Wednesday, May 28, the child appeared to have recovered from the virus and was 

active and playing normally. Tr. 647-48. The Appellant's neighbors and babysitters confirmed 

the Appellant's explanation that the child appeared healthy on Wednesday. Tr. 517-19, 537-38. 

The child was rushed to the hospital on Thursday, May 29. The Appellant could not state 

that the fall on the coffee table in fact caused the injuries that were observed upon the admission 

to the hospital. As the Appellant explained, she worked day shifts, including on Tuesday, May 

27, and Wednesday, May 28, while the child was in the care of baby sitters. Tr. 643,647. The 

child was also in the care of the child's father, rather than the care of the Appellant, during a 

portion of the day on Thursday, May 29. Tr. 650-54. 

Consequently, there were substantial periods of time that the child was with caretakers 

other than the Appellant. Tr. 650-52. For that reason, the Appellant could only state that she did 

not injure the child, and that she had no knowledge of injuries to the child other than the two falls 

on Monday, May 26, Tr. 636,640-42, and the flu-like symptoms that appeared to be cleared up 

by Wednesday, May 28, Tr. 647. 
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The Appellant explained that on Thursday, May 29, the child awoke later than usual and 

appeared lethargic, with little appetite, during the day. Tr. 129-30,376,648-50,653-56. At 

about 6:00 pm, while the Appellant was trying to feed him, the child's breathing became labored, 

his eyes appeared to roll back in his head, and he collapsed. Tr. 117, 130,234-35,376,658-59. 

The Appellant immediately began administering CPR and called to her friend, Christina 

Carnell, to call 911. Tr. 130, 376,659-63. In her initial statements to the police, Ms. Carnell 

concurred with the Appellant's description of events, explaining that she was present when the 

child collapsed. Tr. 303-04. When the police misinformed her that, if she was present when the 

child collapsed, she could be jailed for conspiracy to commit murder of the child, Ms. Carnell 

then altered her account and insisted that she was not present when the child collapsed, but 

instead arrived shortly afterward. Tr. 304-09. In all accounts, however, Ms. Carnell 

acknowledged that she saw the Appellant -- not neglecting the needs of the child -- but 

desperately administering CPR and crying out "Tina, thank God you're here ... Call 911." Tr. 

296,313. 

At trial, paramedic Albert Larue initially testified to the opposite -- that the child was 

laying on the couch, and was not receiving CPR from the Appellant when the ambulance arrived 

at the Appellant's home. Tr. 240-41, 247. On cross-examination, however, when confronted 

with a recording of his own contemporaneous statements, he conceded that the Appellant's 

account was correct and that she was, in fact, administering CPR at the time the paramedics 

arrived. Tr. 247-49. 

When the child arrived at the hospital, some of the medical staff questioned the 

Appellant's explanations of the child's injuries, based on the severity of the child's symptoms. 

Tr. 362-64,428-29. As explained below, however, the medical staff disagreed among 
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themselves regarding the critical issue of whether the injuries would be immediately apparent to 

a caretaker, such that the need for immediate medical attention should have been apparent. The 

State's medical testimony is also conflicting regarding the age of the injuries, including whether 

the child exhibited swelling of the brain at the time of admission to the hospital. 

With regard to the time that the injury occurred, in related civil abuse and neglect 

proceedings, Dr. Mouna Chebib, the pediatric critical care doctor, testified that the child arrived 

at the hospital on May 29 with substantial brain swelling. The brain swelling would ordinarily 

take 36 to 48 hours to develop and would indicate an injury that was several days old. In re: 

HT., JA., and K. W, No 08-JA-120, 121, 122, Circuit Court of Kanawha County, Oct. 16,2008, 

at 19. By contrast, at trial in this matter, Dr. Chebib testified to the opposite of her earlier 

testimony, stating at trial that the child arrived at the hospital with no brain swelling, indicating 

an injury that had just recently occurred. Tr. 428, 429, 434-35, 443-45. 

Despite Dr. Chebib's conflicting testimony regarding when the brain swelling began, 

there is no dispute that, upon admission to the hospital, swelling increased throughout the night. 

Tr. 428. Emergency treatment was unsuccessful. On May 31,2009, less than 48 hours after 

admission to the hospital, the child was declared brain dead. Tr. 400. 

In addition to the contradictory testimony regarding when the brain swelling began, the 

State's experts also provided contradictory testimony regarding whether the bruising on various 

portions of the child's body was caused by initial injuries, or was instead caused by resuscitation 

efforts after the child collapsed. Tr. 234-44, 249-50, 256-57, 267, 288-89,352-53,488,496-97, 

527,642-43. In related civil abuse and neglect proceedings in this case, the treating 

neurosurgeon, Dr. John Schmidt, also acknowledged the possibility that the contusions on the 

child's neck and chin could have been caused by medical treatment, rather than by custodial 
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abuse. In re: HT, JA., and K. W, No. 08-JA-120, 121, 122, Circuit Court of Kanawha County, 

June 6, 2008, hearing, p. 55-56. 

Additionally, in the civil abuse and neglect proceedings, Dr. Richard Keith Umstot 

acknowledged that the child's injuries are potentially consistent with accidental trauma. October 

16,2008, hearing, p. 12. And most significantly, Dr. Mouna Chebib acknowledged that the 

child's injuries would not necessarily be readily or immediately apparent to the child's caretakers. 

October 16,2008, hearing, p. 19-20. Dr. Chebib also acknowledged that the child's symptoms 

would have been consistent with flu-like symptoms -- exculpatory evidence that is consistent 

with what the Petitioner described to authorities. October 16,2008, hearing, p. 24. 

At trial, Dr. Chebib also testified that the child's head injury may not be immediately 

apparent to caretakers, and may take up to 24 hours for the brain swelling to be sufficient to have 

a noticeable effect on the child's behavior. Tr. 441-42. Additionally, Dr. Chebib acknowledged 

that the symptoms of the injury, when they appear, could be the flu-like symptoms -- the diarrhea 

and vomiting -- that the Appellant in fact observed. Tr. 442. 

Aside from the issue regarding when the brain swelling began, Dr. Chebib also testified 

that the injuries would not produce the swelling immediately, but that the swelling, eventually 

causing the loss of consciousness, could occur over a 24 to 48 hour period. Tr. 429, 432-33. 

(The medical staff appeared to disbelieve the Appellant's account of the child's falls based at 

least in part on the misimpression that the child struck his head on the coffee table four days 

before admission to the emergency room. Tr. 362-63,428,432-43. As all of the eyewitnesses 

testified, the fall on the coffee table actually occurred three days before admission. Tr. 292, 513-

14, 640-41. This three-day time period brings the injury closer to the 24 to 48 hour period in 

which the symptoms would ordinarily become noticeable.) 
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The autopsy was perfonned by Dr. James Kaplan, forensic pathologist and chief medical 

examiner for the State. Because of the ongoing disagreement among leading experts regarding 

the amount force necessary to sustain head injuries to children, and because of the contradictory 

expert testimony by the State's experts in the related civil abuse and neglect proceedings in this 

case, the Petitioner filed two pretrial motions in limine to preclude expert testimony regarding 

the manner of death unless the testimony is first subjected to a pretrial reliability assessment 

pursuant to Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, 509 U.S. 579 (1993), and Wilt v. 

Buracker, 191 W.Va. 39, 443 S.E.2d 196 (1993). The trial court overruled the motions for a 

Daubert hearing and, consequently, Dr. Kaplan was pennitted to testify to his opinions without 

any inquiry into the basis or the reliability of his opinions. 

Dr. Kaplan then testified to opinions that that were contrary to some of the previous 

testimony of the State's experts, as set forth above. Dr. Kaplan testified to his opinion that the 

injuries that he observed were not consistent with a child spinning and striking a coffee table, but 

were consistent with a violent assault. Tr. 464. He disagreed with Dr. Chebib and concluded the 

injury would have caused an abrupt change in the child's behavior, a change that would have 

been immediately apparent to a caretaker. Tr. 469-70. 

Despite the charge of neglect causing death, neither Dr. Kaplan nor anyone else testified 

that delay in seeking medical treatment, in fact, caused the death. Instead, Dr. Kaplan testified 

that the cause of death was a violent assault upon the child. As Dr. Kaplan testified, "the injury 

that caused Alex's death was lacerations of the tissues of Alex's brain." Tr. 468-69. Dr. Kaplan 

stated, "Alex was fatally assaulted. That's to say somebody fatally did something to Alex to 

cause his death ... the injuries to Alex's brain that were the consequence of that assault upon his 

person, which are tenned by medical examiner forensic pathologists in this country as abusive 
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closed head injury ... That is certain that is both the cause of and manner of Alex's death." Tr. 

482-83. In contrast to the clarity with which Dr. Kaplan described the cause of death -- unrelated 

to any acts of the Appellant -- Dr. Kaplan could only testify with regard to the Appellant that 

there was a possibility that the child may have survived had medical care been sought sooner. 

Tr. 470. 

The defense called Dr. Harold Buttram, a physician who had devoted the last decade of 

his practice to the treatment of autistic children and related disorders. Tr. 550. Upon reviewing 

the child's medical records, Dr. Buttram found a history of developmental delay that coincided 

with the excessive administration of vaccines during a time when the child was suffering from 

viral infections, Tr. 582-85. Dr. Buttram also found a history of head-banging, spinning, and 

other signs of autism. Tr. 586-87. Upon reviewing photographs of the child nine months before 

his death, in conjunction with a review of the child's medical records, Dr. Buttram concluded that 

the child appeared to suffer from vaccine-induced encephalitis. Tr. 590-94. 

Dr. Buttram disagreed with Dr. Kaplan regarding whether the child's injuries could have 

been caused by an accidental fall on a coffee table, explaining that the weakened structures in the 

child's brain would make the child more susceptible to head injuries from minor falls. Tr. 591-

94. Dr. Buttram also concluded that the child's medical history over the last days of his life was 

consistent with the accidental falls that the Appellant described. Tr. 595. 

In rebuttal, the State called Det. Ferrell. Det. Ferrell testified to an unrecorded interview 

with the Appellant during an unsuccessful attempt at plea negotiations. Tr. 715-16. Det. Ferrell 

testified that in this discussion with the Appellant the prosecutor asked if she was afraid to take 

the child to the hospital because of the bruise on his head. Det. Ferrell testified that that the 

Appellant responded answered "Yes," that "she was concerned of what would happen once they 
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saw the bruise." Tr. 720-22. On cross-examination, however, Det. Ferrell acknowledged that 

she did not take notes of the Appellant's alleged statement. Tr. 723. Most significantly, she also 

acknowledged that she did not remember defense counsel's notes of the Appellant's response to 

the prosecutor~ notes that indicated that the Appellant instead answered "Yes, after Monday I 

thought he had the flu." Tr. 722. 

At the conclusion of closing arguments, the jury deliberated from 2:57 pm until 6:34 pm 

without reaching a verdict. Tr. 796, 799. The following day, the jury deliberated from 8:30 am 

until 3:27 pm. Tr. 801, 805. After 10 112 hours of deliberations, the jury returned a verdict of 

guilty. Tr. 805. 

Upon conviction~ the Court sentenced the Appellant to an indefinite term of three to 

fifteen years in the penitentiary, with 413 days credit for time served. Order Resentencing 

Defendant, August 17,2009. 
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR2 

1. The Prosecution's Medical Experts Testified Only to the Possibility that a Delay in 
Seeking Medical Treatment May Have Caused the Death of the Child. Consequently, 
the Evidence That the Appellant Caused the Death of the Child Fell Far Short of Proof 
Beyond a Reasonable Doubt and the Appellant's Motion for a Judgment of Acquittal 
Should Have Been Granted. 

II. The Trial Court Erroneously Denied the Appellant's Motions for Mistrials Based on 
the Prosecution's Violations of the Court's Ruling in Limine By Informing the Jury 
that the Appellant Was the Subject of Child Protective Services Proceedings. 

2 The Petition in this case raised five assignments of error, set forth in full in footnote one, above. 
Because the Court granted the Petition as to assignments of error two and four on Iy, this Brief addresses 
only those two assignments, renumbered as assignments of error one and two. 
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DISCUSSION OF LAW 

I. The Prosecution's Medical Experts Testified Only to the Possibility that a Delay in 
Seeking Medical Treatment May Have Caused the Death of the Child. Consequently, 
the Evidence That the Appellant Caused the Death of the Child Fell Far Short of Proof 
Beyond a Reasonable Doubt and the Appellant's Motion for a Judgment of Acquittal 
Should Have Been Granted. 

An essential element of the offense of child neglect resulting in death is that the neglect

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