I.

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

DISCUSSION 

A. VIEWING THE EVIDENCE IN THE LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO THE 
PROSECUTION, A REASONABLE JURY COULD HAVE FOUND 
CAUSATION BEYOND A REASONABLE DOlTBT. 

1. The Appellant Failed to Raise a Causation Argument in the 
Lower Court, Denying the Lower Court the Ability to Decide the 
Issue and Providing No Judicial Record from Which an Appeal 
Can Be Reviewed; Therefore, Ifthis Honorable Court Wishes to 
Address the Issue, the Standard of Review Is Plain Error. 

This Honorable Court has noted, "'One of the most familiar procedural rubrics in the 

administration of justice is the rule that the failure of a litigant to assert a right in the trial court 

likely will result' in the imposition of a procedural bar to an appeal of that issue." State v. Miller, 

194 W. Va. 3, 17,459 S.E.2d 114,128 (1995), quoting United States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160, 162 

(5th Cir. 1994). As Justice Cleckley stated in LaRock: 
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[The West Virginia Supreme Court] consistently ha[ s] demonstrated that, in general, 
the law ministers to the vigilant, not to those who sleep on their rights[ .... ] When a 
litigant deems himself or herself aggrieved by what he or she considers to be an 
important occurrence in the course of a trial or an erroneous ruling by a trial court, 
he or she ordinarily must object then and there or forfeit any right to complain at a 
later time. The pedigree for this rule is of ancient vintage, and it is premised on the 
notion that calling an error to the trial court's attention affords an opportunity to 
correct the problem before irreparable hann occurs. There is also an equally salutary 
justification for the raise or waive rule: It prevents a party from making a tactical 
decision to refrain from objecting and, subsequently, should the case turn sour, 
assigning error (or even worse, planting an error and nurturing the seed as a 
guarantee against a bad result). In the end, the contemporaneous objection 
requirement serves an important purpose in promoting the balanced and orderly 
functioning of our adversarial system of justice. [State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 
316,470 S.E.2d 613,635 (1996).] 

State v. Lively, No. 34856, 2010 WL 2483441 (W. Va. June 16,2010). 

Failure to assert an issue in the lower court results in waiver or forfeiture of that issue for 

appeal. Syl. Pt. 8, Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114. "Waiver" means the intentional 

abandonment of an issue, and upon waiver, all inquiry is then ended. (Id.) "Forfeiture" means the 

failure to timely raise an issue, and upon forfeiture, the Court "may" evaluate unpreserved issues 

for plain error "in the most egregious circumstances," though the plain error doctrine is not 

mandatory in all cases. Id.; State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 316, 470 S.E.2d 613,635 (1996); West 

Virginia Rule of Criminal Procedure 52(b). Under Miller, the plain error doctrine only applies ifthe 

Court finds "(1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects 

the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.' Syllabus Point 7, State v. 

Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995)." Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Martin, _W. Va. _, 639 

S.E.2d 482 (2010). "Plain," in this context, means "clear" or "obvious." Miller, 194 W. Va at 18, 

459 S.E.2d at 129, quoting United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 113 S. Ct. 1770 (1993). 
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Plain error is reserved for substantial, fundamental issues resulting in an egregious 

miscarriage of justice, affecting the outcome of the proceedings, and for which the Appellant carries 

the burden of proof. Syl. Pt. 9, Miller, supra. Thus, plain error is a high threshold to conquer, and 

as the Court has said: ''' ... the [plain error] doctrine is to be used sparingly ... ' Syllabus Point 4, 

State v. England, 180 W. Va. 342, 376 S.E.2d 548 (1988)." Syl. Pt. 2, in part, State v. Thompson, 

220 W. Va. 398,647 S.E.2d 834 (2007). 

Furthermore, the Court has intimated that it will not conduct a plain-error review for all 

unpreserved claims regarding statutory elements. In Trent, the petitioners and appellants were 

convicted offirst degree sexual assault. In State ex reI. Morgan v. Trent, 195 W. Va. 257, 260, 465 

S.E.2d 257,260 (1995). A material element of the crime in Trent was that the victims be "eleven 

years old or younger." Id. Although the petitioners and appellants did not raise the issue of age in 

the lower court or on any previous appeal/habeas, the Court reviewed the issue of age under the 

plain error doctrine because the alleged error was a substantial element of the crime and the State 

must prove every element. Id. at 260-62, 465 S.E.2d at 260-62. However, the Court remarked for 

clarification that it does "not intend to consider every issue regarding a criminal statute to be plain 

error." Id. at 262, 465 SE at 262. 

Appellants may also waive or forfeit issues if they fail to concisely state the issue in the 

notice of intent to appeal. Although Rule 37 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure say 

the notice of intent to appeal "should concisely state the grounds for appeal," Rule 3(b) of the West 

Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure clearly mandate a concise statement of each ground: "The 

notice of intent to appeal shall concisely state the grounds for appea1." (Emphasis added.) If the 
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notice of intent to appeal does not state a ground for appeal, and the Appellant later argues that 

ground in her petition and briefing, Rule 3(b) has been violated. 

Lastly, objections in the lower court should be clear and specific to receive ordinary review. 

In State v. Davis, 200 W. Va. 590, 648 S.E.2d. 354 (2007), discussing a jury charge issue raised on 

appeal for the first time, the Court said "that 'where a party does not make a clear, specific obj ection 

at trial to the charge that he challenges as erroneous, he forfeits his right to appeal unless the issue 

is so fundamental and prejudicial as to constitute "p lain error.'" [State v.] Guthrie, 194 W. Va. [657,] 

671 n.B, 461 S.E.2d [163,] 177 n.B [(1995)]." Davis, 220 W. Va. at 593,648 S.E.2d at 357 

(emphasis added). , 

In this case, although the Appellant moved for acquittal due to insufficient evidence after the 

State's case-in-chief, nowhere did the Appellant mention causation as an unfulfilled element in her 

motion. The Appellant cited several specific issues for insufficient evidence: 1) The inconsistencies 

in testimony by paramedic Albert LaRue about whether the mother gave Alex CPR; 2) The 

disagreement between doctors Chebib and Schmidt about whether the child would have been 

immediately unconscious after these injuries occurred or possibly lucid for 24-48 hours; and 3) The 

disagreement between Dr. McCagg and the four paramedics concerning when the child was 

intubated. (Tr. vol. II, 505-06.) These specific issues run to the neglect element, not the causation 

argument. Under the maxim "expressio unius est exclusio alterius," when the Appellant included 

specific arguments for insufficient evidence of neglect, she excluded other arguments for insufficient 

evidence such as causation. Therefore, the causation issue was excluded from the argument and 

excluded from the judicial ruling now under appeal. 
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The Appellant did not raise this causation argument in its original motion for acquittal, nor 

in any pre- or post-trial motions, nor in her Notice ofIntent to Appeal filed on September 8, 2009. 

Notice ofIntent to Appeal, Criminal Case No. 08-F-538, Kanawha County Circuit Court. In other 

words, nowhere below did the Appellant raise an argument against the sufficiency of evidence 

pertaining to the causation element of this crime. This issue was raised for the first time in the 

Appellant's Petition for Appeal, and under the law, issues raised for the first time on appeal are 

deemed waived or forfeited because the lower court did not have a chance to decide the issue or 

create a record for review. The Appellant was silent as to causation below, and silence constitutes 

waiver or forfeiture for appeal. As Justice Cleckley advised, Appellants should not be able to raise 

an issue only after the case goes sour. Furthermore, as this Honorable Court has held, plain error is 

not necessarily appropriate for all issues regarding criminal statutes. Therefore, ifthis Honorable 

Court wishes to address this issue, the Court must apply the heightened plain error standard of 

reVIew. 

2. Viewed in the Light Most Favorable to the Prosecution, the Jury 
Could Have Found by Sufficient Evidence Beyond a Reasonable 
Doubt That Failure to Seek Immediate Medical Attention, 
Removing Alex's Chance to Live, Was a Cause Contributing to 
Alex's Foreseeable Death. 

An appellant in a criminal case challenging the sufficiency of the evidence carries a heavy 

burden. Reviewing all evidence and inferences in the light most favorable to the prosecution, a jury 

verdict may only be set aside if no evidence, direct or circumstantial, supports guilt for each element: 

A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a 
conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, 
whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and 
must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn 
in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent with every 
conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can fmd guilt beyond a reasonable 
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doubt. Credibility detenninations are for a jury and not an appellate court. Finally, 
a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, 
regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a 
reasonable doubt. Syl. Pt. 3, in part, State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 
163 (1995). 

Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Woodson, 222 W. Va. 607, 671 S.E.2d 438 (2008) (emphasis added). The Court 

must only set aside verdicts for insufficient evidence when the court is '" convinced that the evidence 

was manifestly inadequate and that consequent injustice has been done.' Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Starkey, 

161 W. Va. 517,244 S.E.2d219 (1978), overruled on other grounds byStatev. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 

657,461 S.E.2d 163 (1995)." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. Green, 220 W. Va. 300, 647 S.E.2d 736 

(2007). 

Moreover, the reviewing court need not be convinced of the guilt of the Appellant. In 

evaluating decisions on directed verdicts, '''[i]t is not necessary in appraising [the evidence's] 

sufficiency that the trial or reviewing court be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt of the guilt of 

the defendant; the question is whether there is substantial evidence upon which a jury might 

justifiably find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.' State v. West, 153 W. Va. 325, 168 

S.E.2d 716, (1963)." Syl. pt. 1, State v. Fischer, 158 W. Va. 72,211 S.E.2d 666 (1974).' Syl. Pt. 10, 

State v. Davis, 176 W. Va. 454, 345 S.E.2d 549 (1986)." Syllabus point 1, State v. Rogers, 209 

W. Va. 348,547 S.E.2d 910 (2001)." Syl. Pt. 3, in part, State v. Whittaker, 221 W. Va. 117,650 

S.E.2d 216 (2007). 

The Court's detennination in sufficiency-of-the-evidence cases is twofold: 1) It must 

construe the facts in favor of the prosecution, and 2) it must apply the relevant legal standard to 

those facts as the jury might have applied it. State v. Harden, 223 W. Va. 796, 814,679 S.E.2d 628, 

647 (2009). In all criminal cases, the relevant legal standard for conviction is proof beyond a 
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reasonable doubt as to the essential elements ofthe crime. Bunleyv. Florida, 538 U.S. 835, 840,123 

S. Ct. 2020, 2023 (2003). However, beyond a reasonable doubt does not mean beyond all doubt. 

This court has clearly stated: "It is not required that the government prove guilt beyond all possible 

doubt." State v. Goff, 166 W. Va. 47, n.9, 272 S.E.2d 457 n.9 (1980). 

The Court defines "reasonable doubt" as a reasonable person's hesitation to act on the 

evidence. In Harden, the Court restated its definition: 

A reasonable doubt is a doubt based upon reason and common sense-the kind of 
doubt that would make a reasonable person hesitate to act. Proofbeyond a reasonable 
doubt, therefore, must be proof of such a convincing character that a reasonable 
person would not hesitate to rely and act upon it. 

Harden, 223 W. Va. at 814,679 S.E.2d at 647, quoting Goff, 166 W. Va. at n.9, 272 S.E.2d at n.9. 

Under West Virginia Code § 6l-8D-4a, a person is guilty of Child Neglect Resulting in 

Death if the person neglects a child and that neglect "causes" the child's death. The West Virginia 

Legislature did not define "cause" or "causation" in Chapter 61 of the West Virginia Code, but the 

Legislature did title the statute "Child neglect resulting in death," adding legislative intent to the 

meaning of "cause" intended. W. Va. Code § 6l-8D-4a (emphasis added). Additionally, in 

Thompson (discussed below) this Court upheld conviction against a sufficiency-of-the-evidence 

claim where the Appellant "contributed to" a "foreseeable" death. 

Causation in criminal cases does not have to be the direct and only cause beyond all doubt, 

as the Appellant seems to argue. A "host of cases" nationwide impose guilt where the direct cause 

of death is separate and distinct from the underlying criminal conduct. See State v. Durham, 156 

W. Va. 509, 517, 195 S.E.2d 144, 149 (1973). This Court has found sufficient evidence to convict 

in the case where the criminal conduct contributed to the death-allowing for multiple causes--and 

in the case where medical experts testified only to the possibility that the conduct caused death. If 
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strongpossibilities weighed by reasonable juries were not enough to impose guilt, then the standard 

in criminal cases would be beyond ALL doubt, not simply beyond REASONABLE doubt. 

In State v. Thompson, 220 W. Va. 246, 647 S.E.2d 526 (2007), a case similar to the case at 

bar, this Honorable Court upheld a guilty verdict under West Virginia Code § 61-8D-4a because the 

Appellant, Thompson, neglected his son and that neglect "contributed to" the "foreseeable" death 

of his son, despite the fact that the direct cause of death was hypothermia. Around 10:00 a.m. on 

a hot day, Thompson fell asleep in his trailer while Luke, his toddler son, suffering from a fever at 

the time, sat strapped in a car seat in a hot car with all but one window rolled up. Thompson, 220 

W. Va. at 248,647 S.E.2d at 528. Thompson claimed he unintentionally fell asleep due to extreme 

exhaustion, and when he awoke around 3:00 p.m., he immediately ran to the car and administered 

CPR to the child. Id. Tragically, the child died of hypothermia. Id. Despite his unintentional sleep 

and CPR claims, Thompson was convicted of Child Neglect Resulting in Death under West Virginia 

Code § 61-8D-4a. On appeal, Thompson argued, inter alia, insufficient evidence to support the 

conviction. The Appellant's brief misinterprets this Court's opinion in Thompson. Although the 

Court did not directly state that it was interpreting the causation element of this statute, the Court 

declared that "the evidence was there for the jury to conclude that the appellant contributed to the 

circumstances which led, inexorably, directly to Luke's death from hypothermia. The death was 

foreseeable." Id. at 254,647 S.E.2d at 534. The Court was clearly interpreting causation. Although 

the direct cause of death was hypothermia, the parent in Thompson contributed to a foreseeable 

death by leaving his feverish son in the hot car for hours. Therefore, the question this Court must 

ask regarding causation under West Virginia Code § 61-8d-4a is whether the Appellant contributed 

to a foreseeable death by neglecting to seek immediate medical attention for Alex's clearly life-
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threatening injuries. As will be discussed below, the answer is yes-the Appellant did contribute to 

Alex's foreseeable death. 

The word "cause" is a flexible legal tenn. Different courts apply different understandings 

of the tenn to different cases, tort or criminal. "Cause" may be described as "legal cause," 

"proximate cause," "but-for cause," "cause in fact," "substantial factor cause," "direct/indirect 

cause," "primary/second cause," its more common sense meaning of "bring about," "contribute to," 

or "result in," or it may be a combination thereof. Each unique phrase courts give "cause" also 

carries a lUlique test. Most criminal causation is cause in fact or but-for cause (meaning without the 

criminal conduct the result would not have occurred), but as in Thompson, this Court has applied 

different types of causation in certain criminal cases, such as manslaughter or neglect cases. 

In State v. Craig, 131 W. Va. 714, 51 S.E.2d 283 (1949), for example, this Court 

implemented a foreseeability causation (was the death reasonable anticipated from the criminal 

conduct)--similar to Thompson. The Craig court reversed a conviction for invollUltary manslaughter 

due to insufficient evidence where a driver struck a road worker on a foggy road. ld. The accident 

was apparently a calm one. When the collision occurred, the automobile's speed was "nearly at a

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